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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
HAMMOND DIVISION

James D. Tunick,
Plaintiff,
V. Case No. 2:10-CV-59 JVB
Indiana Gaming Commission Agents

Chad Williams and Patricia Yelkich, and
The Majestic Star Casino I, Inc.,

N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

OPINION AND ORDER

In this § 1983 lawsuit, Plaintiff Jare@ unick claims Indiana Gaming Commission
(“IGC”) Agents Chad Williams and Patricia Yelkizviolated his civil rights during his arrest at
the Majestic Star Il Casino on March 28, 2008. Furttoge, he brings almdiana state law claim
that the IGC agents maliciously prosecuted himalde alleges that thdajestic Star casino and
IGC officers conspired to depe him of his civil rights, violating 48 U.S.C. § 1985.

Defendants moved for summary judgment. Tamue that Agents Williams and Yelkich
had probable cause to arrest Plaintiff, and #reyentitled to qualifiedrimunity from suit. They
further assert that Plaintif’'malicious prosecution claim mdail if Defendants had probable
cause to arrest Plaintiff. Filyg Defendants maintain that Prtaiff alleges no facts to support a
conspiracy between the IGC and The Majestic Star Casino.

Plaintiff responded to the motion, asserting thate are triable isss of fact regarding
probable cause in his arrest. blgues there were two arreststblaicking probable cause, one at

the casino exit ramp and a second after he signetkase bond insideahGC offices. Plaintiff
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does not respond to Defendantsersion that Plaintiff lackevidence for the 81985 conspiracy

claim. As such, Plaintiff concedes there ap factual disputesleging to that claint.

A. Summary Judgment Standard

A motion for summary judgmembust be granted “if thpleadings, depositions, answers
to interrogatories, and admissionsfiva, together with the affidats, if any, show that there is
No genuine issue as to any matefaat and that the moving paiig/entitled to a judgment as a
matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). Rule 56i@jther requires the entry of summary judgment,
after adequate time for discayeagainst a party “who fails tmake a showing sufficient to
establish the existence of an element essentthbtqgarty’s case, arah which that party will
bear the burden of proof at trialCelotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986).

A party seeking summary judgment bears the initial responsibilityfaiming a court of
the basis for its motion and identifying thosetjors of the pleadings, depositions, answers to
interrogatories, and admissions on file, togethign the affidavits, if any, which it believes
demonstrate the absence of agae issue of material fac@elotex, 477 U.S. at 323. the
moving party supports its motion for summary judgingith affidavits or other materials, it
thereby shifts to the non-moving pathe burden of showing that @sue of material fact exists.
Keri v. Bd. of Trust. of Purdue Univ., 458 F.3d 620, 628 (7th Cir. 2006).

Rule 56(e) specifies that once a propsupported motion for summary judgment is
made, “the adverse party’s respanse affidavits or as otherwig@ovided in this rule, must set
forth specific facts to establish that there geauine issue for trial.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e).

In viewing the facts presented on a motiondommary judgment, a court must construe

1 “The Court will assume that the facts as claimedi supported by admissible evidence by the moving party
are admitted to exist without controversy, except to the etttahsuch facts are controverted in the “Statement of
Genuine Issues” filed in opposition to ttion.” N.D. Ind. L.R. 56.1(b).

2



all facts in a light most favorédto the non-moving party and dral legitimate inferences and
resolve all doubts ifavor of that partyKeri, 458 F.3d at 628. A courtisle is not to evaluate

the weight of the evidence, to judge the credibility of witnesses, or to determine the truth of the
matter, but instead to determine whetheré¢hs a genuine isswof triable factAnderson v.

Liberty Lobby, 477 U.S. 242, 249-50 (1986).

B. Summary of Events

Plaintiff played poker for several hours ag tMajestic Star Il casino on March 28, 2008. (DE
38-1 at 24.) He became annoyed with a femadggalat the poker table, and called her a
“bitch” to another patronld.) Shortly afterward, casino engylees working the floor notified
casino security officers about a disorderlyrpa. (DE 38-3 at 20.) The security manager
dispatched two security employeestact Plaintiff from the casinold. at 23-25.) The security
employees escorted Plaintiff towards the casints ehere, according to Plaintiff, he may have
cursed “this is bullshit.” (DB8-1 at 37.) The casino’s eviati procedure includes checking a
person’s identification in order to bar therorfr the property in the future. (DE 38-3 at 11.)
Signs posted in the casino alert patrons that oadiicials may ask for ID at any time. (DE 38-1
at 38.) Plaintiff refused to givieis identification, anthe casino employees called IGC agents to
assist. (DE 38-1 at 38.) Agents Williams and Yetkthen approached Plaintiff and the casino
security employees. (DE 38-4 at 50.)

Agent Williams and identified himself as a law enforcement and demanded Plaintiff's ID.
Plaintiff refused to display it. Agent Williams agaasked for the ID, saying that he would arrest
Plaintiff if he did not comply. (DE 38-1 at 42—-44.)response, Plaintiff putis hands out as if to

be handcuffed, and then turned away when Agent Williams began to arrest him. (DE 38-6 at



15:18.) Agent Williams then handcuffed Plaintdhd both IGC agents escorted Plaintiff to the
IGC offices on the casino propgrOnce there, IGC agents toBlaintiff’'s ID and patted him
down for weapons. (DE 38-2 at 40.)

Plaintiff stayed in the offices for a sevenaurs while IGC agents checked his background
for outstanding warrants and criralristory. (DE 38-1 at 47.) IG agents released Plaintiff's
handcuffs to allow him to sign his releds@nd. The bond contained aoprise to appear if
criminal charges were filed. Agent Williams tddhintiff he would not beharged at this time.
Plaintiff signed the bond, then immediatelgad up and spoke out against his arredt.gt 56.)
IGC agents ordered him to sibwn, and he did not complyd() Defendants testify that he then
attempted to exit the office and shoved iAgent Yelkich. (DE 38-2 at 46; DE 38-4 at 84-87.)
Shortly afterward, Agent Williams again handcdffelaintiff, and announced that he would be
going to jail. Plaintiff was taketo jail roughly an hour laterld. at 60.)

An Indiana prosecutor filed criminal chasgagainst Plaintiff for disorderly conduct,
resisting law enforcement, and battery of a éaforcement officer. (DB8-5.) Plaintiff entered
a pre-trial diversion program, where the changesld be dismissed if he wrote a letter of
apology and did not commit further offensesddime period. (DE 38-5.) Plaintiff complied

with the terms of the prograend the charges were dismissed.

C. Section 1983 Standards
Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Plaintiff allegedations of his rights guaranteed by the
Fourth Amendment. Section 1983 provides “dhud for vindicating fedal rights elsewhere

conferred by those parts of the United States tatien and federal statutes that it describes.

City of Monterrey v. Del Monte Dunes at Monterrey, Ltd., 526 U.S. 687 n.9 (1999). A cause of



action may be brought under § 1983 againsv§ge} person who, under color of statute,
ordinance, regulation, custom or usage, of anyeStat subjects, or causes to be subjected, any
citizen of the United States orhatr person within the jisdiction therefor tahe deprivation of

any rights, privileges, or immunitieecured by the Constitution and laws.”

The plaintiff must demonstrate that the defant personally particgted in or directly
caused the deprivation of his or her rigiitgjo v. Heller, 328 F.3d 930, 936 (7th Cir. 2003).
The doctrine ofespondeat superior cannot be used under § 1983 teate supervisors’ liability
due to the misconduct of subordinat€savez v. lll. Sate Police, 251 F.3d 612, 651 (7th Cir.
2001). Instead, the plaintiff must demonstratd the defendant was personally responsible by
“act[ing] or fail[ing] to act with a deliberate or reckless dismehof plaintiff's constitutional
rights,” or that “the conduct caing the constitutional deprivati@mtcur[red] at [the defendant’s]
direction or with [the defenad's] knowledge or consentCrowder v. Lash, 687 F.2d 996, 1005
(7th Cir. 1982).

Qualified immunity, a primary defense to a claim under § 1983, shields officers from
liability when they are “performing discretionaiynctions . . . insofar as their conduct does not
violate clearly established stabay or constitutional rights offhich a reasonable person would
have known.Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 818 (1982). “[i& inquiry focuses on the
objective legal reasonableness of the action, nattdite of mind or good faith of the officials in
guestion.”Delaney v DeTella, 256 F.3d 679, 686 (7th Cir. 2001). Qualified immunity provides
“protection to all but the pinly incompetent or thoseha knowingly violate the law.Malley v.
Briggs, 475 U.S. 335, 341 (1986). “[P]laintiff bears therden of showing #hexistence of the
allegedly clearly establisbdeconstitutional rights.Clash v. Beatty, 77 F.3d 1045, 1047 (7th Cir.

1996). Police have qualified immunity for actidaken during arrest if their conduct does not



violate statutory or constitwhal safeguards that a reasdeglerson would know, and their
conduct is not so egregious no reasonableopersuld believe it di not violate clearly
established right$Smith v. City of Chicago, 242 F.3d 737, 742 (7th Cir. 2001). A Plaintiff can
dissolve qualified immunity by shving a clearly analogous casé¢adsishing a right to be free
from the specific conduct, or by showing thatreasonable person would believe the conduct

did not violate a protected rightl.

D. IGC Agents Have Qualified Immunity from Suit for the False Arrest Claims.

Defendants argue that Plaintiff's arrestsnmsed on probable caus®at his detention
was continuous until his release from Lake Coyaity and that they have qualified immunity
from suit. Plaintiff counters that his initial astdacked probable cause, and his re-cuffing after

signing a release bond formed a secamnesa also lacking probable cause.

(1) Plaintiff did not demonstrate that hisinitial arrest violated rights a reasonable person

would know, or that the arrest was so egregious no reasonable person would believeit did

not violate a protected right

To overcome an officer’'s qualified immunitgefense, the plaintiff bears the burden to

demonstrate both a rights violation and tiet clear-establishment of that rigRtrtell v.
Mason, 527 F.3d 615, 621 (7th Cir. 2008). Probablesedor an arrest exists when law
enforcement officers have reasonably trustiwpiformation that would cause a prudent person
to believe a suspect committed an offeMdaxwell v. City of Indianapolis, 998 F.2d 431, 433

(7th Cir. 1993). Facts and circumstances are coreides they appeared to the arresting officers.

Michigan v. DeFillippo, 443 U.S. 31, 37 (1979).



IGC agents have broad authorityetaforce IGC policies under Indiana l&Whe IGC
can evict or exclude riverboattpans that, in its judgment, infere with the ogderly conduct of
gambling operations. Ind. Code 8§ 4-33-4-7. Inditaw requires casinos to maintain patron
eviction criteria, and mandateatihdisorderly conduct belmsis for eviction. 68 Ind. Admin.
Code 8§ 6-2-1. Further, casinos must keefearction list” containhg the excluded person’s
name, date-of-birth, address, physical descmpt@md current photograph. 68 Ind. Admin. Code
8 6-2-4. The Majestic Star Il Casino’s evictiompedure includes examining an evicted person’s
identification, and posted signsedl patrons of the requiremewntshow their ID upon request.

Plaintiff fails to show that the IGC Dafdants would reasonably know that Plaintiff's
arrest under these circumstances violated the Fourth Amendment. The IGC has broad authority
to enforce conduct in the highlygalated casino environment. Plaffhfails to point to any case
in this circuit or elsewhere @ would place the IGC agents oatice that arrest for reported
disorderly conduct or failing to present ID would violate the Fourth Amendment.

Plaintiff failed to show that his arrestas so egregious no reasonable person could
believe it did not violate an established righisltndisputed that cas employees reported that
Plaintiff was acting disorderly to the IGC Dattants. When Agent Williams identified himself
and confronted Plaintiff for his ID, he refuseddisplay it. When presdefor his ID, Plaintiff
held out his hands for handcuffs. The IGC harsstderable discretion to evict casino patrons,
and casinos are required by langather identification informatn as part of that process.
Indiana law mandates casino eviction for diwly behavior, and the casino’s eviction
procedure requires information generally camtdi on photo identification. IGC agents have full

police powers to enforce IGC policy, includipglicies of eviction. Plaintiff's refusal to

2«A gaming agent is vested with full police powers and duties to enforce this [riverboat gambling] article.” Ind.
Code § 4-33-4.5-1.



cooperate with eviction procedis violated IGC policy. As sag¢the Court finds that the IGC
Defendant’s arrest of Plaintiff for failing to present ID or feported disorderly conduct was not
SO egregious that no reasonable person wouieMesit did not violatehe Fourth Amendment.
Therefore, the Court finds that Plaintifilead to meet his burden to overcome the IGC
Defendants’ qualified immunity.

Agents Williams and Yelkich have areti#éled to summary judgment regarding
Plaintiff's false arrest claim for his initial tention. As such, the Court need not reach the

guestion of whether probable cause existealigh the undisputeadts indicate it did.

(2) Plaintiff did not demonstrate his detention at the | GC offices violated rights a reasonable
person would know, or that the detention was so egregious no reasonable person would
believe it did not violate a protected right

Plaintiff argues that he waarrested twice without probable cause, once on the casino
entrance ramp and again inside tiBC offices. Plaintiff relies oXing Qian v. Kautz, 168 F.3d

949 (7th Cir. 1999) to illustrate his argumdntthat case, a man suffering from recurrent

dizziness lost control of his cané collided with a wooden planted. at 951. Police, suspecting

a DUI violation, arrested him and transportéu ko both the police station and a hospital for

breath and blood testsl. Police then took him to check ingohotel, planning to re-arrest him

there if the tests showednhito be under the influenckl. The man refused to book into the

hotel, and was immediately re-arrestietiat 952. That Court of Amals for the Seventh Circuit
found that a reasonable person athiotel would believe he was# to leave, and the re-arrest
lacked probable cause. Relyiag this, Plaintiff argues that,taf he signed a release bond and

police told him he would not be charged, a reabtsperson would believe he was free to go,

and his re-handcuffing constituted a second an@sbased on probableuwse. Plaintiff asserts



that the issue of probable causetfas “second arrest” is an issakefact to be determined by a

jury.

Defendants argue that Plaintiff's arrest wastinuous from his ini@l detention at the
casino until his release from Lake County jail s@aly is determined objectively in light of the
totality of the circumstances, with the inquincused upon whether a reasonable person would
understand there was a formestriction on his movemerQQuin v. Kautz, 168 F.3d 949, 954
(7th Cir. 1999). Defendants hightigthat Plaintiff was at the relevant times confined to a
restricted area of the barge, in a room wiithitiple law enforcement officers. On standing up,
officers ordered him to sit back down. Theypmiit that no reasonable person —even after being
un-handcuffed to sign a release bond—wdadtieve he was free to leave under the
circumstances.

To overcome an officer’s qualified immunityfdase, a plaintiff must demonstrate both
violation of a constitutional right, artle clear establishment of that rigRurtell v. Mason, 527
F.3d 615, 621 (7th Cir. 2008). Plaintiff offers dearly analogous case law that the IGC agents
should have been on notice that un-handcuffingaa, inside police offices, to sign a release
bond constituted a break in custody, and separateable cause was required to re-handcuff
him. Plaintiff's reliance orXing Qian is misplaced. The suspect in that case was escorted by
police to a hotel specifically for the purpose ohgmrary release. This is markedly different
from the release of restraints and signatura kflease bond while canéd deep within law
enforcement offices. Similarly, the evidence, viewetight most favorable to Plaintiff, shows
that the IGC agents re-handcuffed Plaintiff afterrefused to sit down wh confined inside law
enforcement offices. The Court finds this condsigtot so egregious that no reasonable person

would believe it did not violatan established right.



The Court finds that Plaintiff failed to shdvis confinement was egregious or violated a
clearly-established right. Thewek, the Court need not reach the question if signing a release
bond constituted a break in custody. Furthermitvee Court finds the IGC agents have qualified
immunity from this false arrest claim. Ascdy the Court grants summary judgment regarding

Plaintiff's second false arreskaim for both 1GC Defendants.

E. Plaintiff Concedes His Conspiracy Claim

IGC Defendants maintain that Plaintiff shedvno evidence that Majestic Star Casino
employees and IGC agents conspired to violateitikrights. Plaintiff did not respond to this
assertion in his summary-judgment response. Thrthuglsilence, Plaintiff concedes a lack of

evidence for the claim. The Court grants summaalgment to all Defendants for that claim.

F. The Indiana Tort Claims Act Bars Plaintiff’'s Malicious Prosecution Claim

Defendants assert that Plaifit malicious prosecution clai is incorporated into his
§ 1983 claim for false arrest. Plaintiff did not address thigtssen response, though he
described that claim as “state law” in the complaint. The Court finds the claim arises under
Indiana state law, and the Court has suppleéabgurisdiction over th claim under 28 U.S.C.
§1367°

The Court finds that Indiana law bars BRtdf’s claim for malicious prosecution. If
Indiana government employees initiate prosecuiithin the scope dheir employment, the

Indiana Tort Claims Act shields them framy resulting liability. Ind. Code § 34-13-3<s&e

% Title 28 U.S.C. §1367 allows federal jurisdiction over stateclaims if the claims are “so related to claims in the
action within such original jurisdiction that they fornripaf the same case or controversy under Article 11l.” The
Court finds that Plaintiff's malicious-psecution claim relates sufficiently toetfiederal §1983 false arrest claim to
make supplemental jurisdiction proper.

10



Butt v. McEvoy, 669 N.E.2d 1015 (Ind. Ct. App. 1996) (holding that the ITCA confers immunity
upon police officers in actions for malicious peostion). The Court finds the Defendants, as
gaming officials, acted in the scope of theinployment when they initiated the prosecution
against Plaintiff. As such, they are immunenfrsuit for malicious prosecution. Therefore, the

Court grants summary judgment foetBbefendants on this claim as well.

G. Conclusion

The Court finds that the IGC Bsndants have qualified immunitsom suit for both
8 1983 false arrest claims. The Court furtherditttht Plaintiff conceded his 81985 conspiracy
claim. Finally, the Court finds that Indiafew bars his statesaclaim for malicious

prosecution. As such, the Court enters sumrdadgment for the Defendants on all claims.

SO ORDERED on July 29, 2011.

s/Joseph S. Van Bokkelen
Joseph S. Van Bokkelen
UnitedState<District Judge
Hammondivision
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